FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/11/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101977-7

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/10/2023 1:39 PM

Court of Appeals No. 834860-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CULINARY VENTURES, LTD. d/b/a BITEMOJO,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Beth E. Terrell

Email: bterrell@terrellmarshall.com

Jennifer Rust Murray

Email: jmurray@terrellmarshall.com

Ryan Tack-Hooper

Email: ryan@terrellmarshall.com 936 North 34th Street, Suite 300 Seattle, Washington 98103-8869 Telephone: (206) 816-6603

Facsimile: (206) 319-5450

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Culinary Ventures is the developer of a smartphone app called Bitemojo. Bitemojo asks the Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review of the trial court's dismissal of its claims against Microsoft Corporation.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In Culinary Ventures, Ltd. v. Microsoft Corporation, -Wn. App. --, 527 P.3d 122 (2023), the Court of Appeals
affirmed dismissal of Bitemojo's claims based on a forum
selection clause in Microsoft's Online Services Agreement that
requires an "action to enforce this agreement" be brought in
Ireland, even though Bitemojo does not seek to enforce any
provision of the MOSA and will be deprived of its claim for
violation of Washington's Consumer Protection Act.

Bitemojo's injury did not result from a breach of the MOSA. Bitemojo's business was destroyed as a result of Bitemojo's reliance on Microsoft's customer service agents'

representations that Microsoft would preserve Bitemojo's data while Bitemojo's use of Microsoft's Azure platform was voluntarily and temporarily stopped and its payments deferred, and Microsoft's unfair practice of destroying customers' data without consideration for agreements its agents make to override its automated deletion protocols. Because Microsoft's data preservation and deletion policies and practices are uniform and automatically deployed, the same thing that happened to Bitemojo could happen to thousands of others. That is why Bitemojo sued Microsoft in its home state of Washington for CPA violations, seeking injunctive relief as well as damages for the CPA violation and for breach of the separate agreement Bitemojo entered into with Microsoft during the extraordinary circumstances of the pandemic.

The Court of Appeals made new law in holding that
Bitemojo's claims fall within the "action to enforce" forum
selection clause despite acknowledging that Bitemojo does not
seek to enforce any provision of the MOSA. This broad

interpretation of the clause is contrary to this Court's instruction that the meaning of unambiguous contract terms is determined from the words used in the contract, which must be given their ordinary and usual meaning, unless the entirety of the contract clearly establishes a contrary intent. *See Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005).

Relying on a federal appellate decision applying federal law to interpret an ambiguous forum selection clause, the Court of Appeals determined that three provisions of the MOSA had to be considered to determine the parties' intent. The Court of Appeals held that provisions pertaining to the suspension of accounts for nonpayment and the content of customers' data had to be interpreted to resolve Bitemojo's claims. But neither provision addresses the circumstances of Bitemojo's claims or includes any obligation that Bitemojo is seeking to enforce against Microsoft—in fact, neither provision imposes any obligation on Microsoft at all.

The Court of Appeals also found the MOSA's integration clause was relevant to determining the parties' intent. The MOSA's declaration that it "is the entire agreement concerning its subject matter" is simply false, and this Court does not bind parties to these types of clauses when the parties have agreed to a separate term that is not inconsistent with the agreement.

*Black v. Evergreen Land Devs., 75 Wn.2d 241, 250-51, 450 P.2d 470 (1969).

If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals decision will expand the scope of forum selection clauses applying to actions to "enforce" a contract beyond their plain meaning to include claims that arise outside the terms of the contract just because they relate to the subject matter of the contract, conflicting with this Court's guidance for interpreting unambiguous contract provisions. The decision also raises an issue of substantial public interest because consumers will be unable to rely on the ordinary and usual meaning of the language in form contracts. The decision impacts not only forum selection clauses, but also

other provisions applicable to actions to "enforce" a contract that are commonly found in form contracts, such as arbitration and class waiver clauses.

Small businesses like Bitemojo are increasingly moving their data to the cloud at the urging of companies like Microsoft Azure and Amazon Web Services. As that trend continues, questions will continue to arise about what companies offering cloud computing services must do to protect the integrity of other businesses' data. There is a substantial public interest in having those questions resolved in courts in Washington (where the major cloud computing companies are headquartered) rather than pushing them to overseas forums.

The Court of Appeals decision also contravenes this Court's holding in *Dix v. ICT Group, Inc.*, that a forum selection clause that "leaves the plaintiff with no feasible avenue for seeking relief for violations of the CPA" is unenforceable because it "violates the public policy of this state." 160 Wn. 2d 826, 837, 841, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). There

is no dispute that enforcing the forum selection clause in the MOSA will deprive Bitemojo of its CPA claim. The Court of Appeals nonetheless found the clause enforceable, misreading *Dix* as limited to class actions brought by plaintiffs with small damages claims that cannot assert other claims with the same factual basis. The holding of *Dix* is not that narrow.

The *Dix* plaintiffs had no feasible avenue for pursuing their CPA claim absent a class action because their costs to litigate against AOL far outweighed their potential recovery. This Court found the forum selection clause in AOL's form agreement to be unenforceable because it required the plaintiffs to sue in Virginia, which does not permit class suits. Bitemojo has the resources to bring an individual CPA claim but cannot do so in Ireland, where the forum selection clause requires Bitemojo to bring a suit to enforce the MOSA. That Bitemojo can file a breach of contract claim against Microsoft in Ireland is just as irrelevant as its ability to file an individual CPA claim. Bitemojo seeks injunctive relief requiring Microsoft to change

not subject to Microsoft's mistaken deletion of their data. In *Dix*, this Court recognized the critical importance of the private right of action to enforce the CPA, which allows a plaintiff to obtain injunctive relief that will benefit the public and foster fair and honest competition "even if that injunction would not affect that particular consumer's private interests." 160 Wn.2d at 837.

The Court should accept review and reverse either because the MOSA does not encompass Bitemojo's claims, or because the forum selection clause leaves Bitemojo with no feasible avenue for seeking relief for violations of the CPA.

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached as Appendix A. The Clerks Papers (CP) are attached as Appendix B.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does a forum selection clause limited to "an action to enforce this agreement" exclude actions that do not seek to enforce any provision of the agreement?
- 2. Is a forum selection clause unenforceable when it leaves the plaintiff with no feasible avenue for seeking injunctive relief for CPA violations by one of Washington's largest corporations?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Bitemojo used Microsoft's Azure product to host its critical operational data.

Bitemojo is a smartphone app that offers interactive, self-guided food tours. CP82 ¶2; CP3 ¶14. In 2016, Bitemojo applied for and was accepted into Microsoft's BizSpark program, which gives start-ups access to Microsoft Azure cloud services, software, and support. CP93-94; CP83-84 ¶¶6-9; CP4-5 ¶¶19-20. Bitemojo was a leader in the app-based travel industry and used Microsoft Azure's dedicated Web App and

SQL Database services to run the app on a global scale. Azure's reliable high-speed Content Delivery Network allowed Bitemojo to make dynamic updates to the app's content and deliver customized tours within minutes. CP4-5 ¶20; CP83-84 ¶7. As part of its use of the Azure services, Bitemojo was required to store all its code and data on Microsoft's Azure servers, including user data of over 50,000 customers worldwide; individually crafted tours in its destination cities, including the visual and textual content for each tour; supplier and proprietary tour ratings; and bitcoin data for its users. CP83-84 ¶7-10; CP3-5 ¶14-20.

B. Microsoft's agents agreed to preserve Bitemojo's data but Microsoft's automated processes permanently deleted it.

In early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic decimated the travel industry and Bitemojo had to shut down. CP84 ¶11; CP5 ¶21. Bitemojo no longer had any use for the Azure platform, and contacted Microsoft to ask if it could temporarily stop its Azure services subscription. CP84 ¶12; CP100-101; CP5 ¶22.

Microsoft's customer support agents agreed to deactivate Bitemojo's subscription. CP85 ¶13; CP103-104; CP5 ¶23. Microsoft informed Bitemojo that it would delete Bitemojo's data after 90 days unless Bitemojo contacted Microsoft to reactivate, and Bitemojo confirmed the procedures to follow to reactivate to ensure the data would not be deleted. CP85 ¶¶14-16; CP106-109; CP5-6 ¶24.

Ninety days later the pandemic had not ended and Bitemojo contacted Microsoft to request another "extension in keeping our server down and our data secured." CP85-86 ¶18; CP112. Microsoft agreed. Bitemojo asked Microsoft to confirm that "all our data will be kept there as before," and that "both suspension periods would be with [n]o outstanding balance." Microsoft's agent assured Bitemojo that "[t]here is no issue keeping your data safe" as long as you "contact me or another engineer again within 3 months to postpone the data deletion." CP86 ¶20-21; CP118-127; CP6 ¶26.

Bitemojo carefully complied with the procedures

Microsoft established. CP85-86 ¶¶13-18, CP5-6 ¶¶24-26. But

when Bitemojo contacted Microsoft support in early September

2020 to request another extension of the forbearance, Microsoft
sent an automated email stating that Bitemojo's subscription

had been cancelled and its data had been deleted. CP87 ¶4;

CP140; CP6-7 ¶¶27-28. Microsoft repeatedly apologized for

deleting the data, assured Bitemojo that steps were being taken
to prevent this from happening in the future, and said it would
try to recover the data. CP87 ¶26; CP7-8 ¶¶28-34. Microsoft
was unable to recover Bitemojo's data. CP8 ¶35.

C. Bitemojo sued Microsoft and the trial court granted Microsoft's motion to dismiss.

Bitemojo alleges that Microsoft's customer support agents' statements in response to its requests for forbearance are enforceable promises under a theory of promissory estoppel or as independent contracts because they were made to keep a "loyal client." CP8-9; CP86 ¶21. Bitemojo alleges Microsoft's

deletion of Bitemojo's data without legal justification was conversion. CP10.

Because Microsoft Azure is used by thousands of businesses, and many customers like Bitemojo are directed to work with Microsoft customer support agents to resolve account issues, Bitemojo also sued for violation of the CPA. CP10-12; CP78. Bitemojo alleges Microsoft violated the CPA by deploying improperly safeguarded automatic deletion protocols; allowing Microsoft customer support agents to make promises to its customers about payment and suspension of accounts that Microsoft fails to honor; and failing to maintain procedures for retaining data in an archived format so it can be recovered if improperly deleted. CP10-12.

Microsoft moved to dismiss Bitemojo's claims on several grounds, including for improper venue under Civil Rule 12(b)(3). CP38-39. Microsoft contends that the MOSA requires litigation of Bitemojo's claims in Ireland. The MOSA's forum selection clause states:

This agreement is governed by the laws of Ireland. If we bring an action to enforce this agreement, we will bring it in the jurisdiction where you have your headquarters. If you bring an action to enforce this agreement, you will bring it in Ireland. This choice of jurisdiction does not prevent either party from seeking injunctive relief in any appropriate jurisdiction with respect to violation of intellectual property rights.

CP24 §7.h.

The MOSA outlines Microsoft's obligations, such as its responsibility for defending intellectual property rights in the Azure software and warranties for performance of the online services. CP19-25. The MOSA also addresses the steps Microsoft must and may take if a customer does not "fully address" its failure to make payments. CP22 §3.c.ii. But the MOSA has no provisions concerning voluntary suspensions of account services or forbearance from payments during periods of emergency or non-operation. It says nothing about and does not otherwise govern the status of separate promises made by Microsoft customer support agents. CP19-25.

The trial court found the forum selection clause enforceable and granted Microsoft's motion to dismiss. CP217-218. The Court of Appeals affirmed. Appendix A.

V. ARGUMENT

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' published opinion is in conflict with decisions of this Court, RAP 13.4(b)(1), and Bitemojo's petition raises issues of substantial public interest, RAP 13.4(b)(4).

A. The Court of Appeals' expansion of the scope of forum selection provisions governing actions to "enforce" contracts, is contrary to this Court's precedent and of substantial public interest.

The scope of a forum selection clause applicable to actions to "enforce" a contract is an issue of substantial public interest this Court must address. As the Court of Appeals noted, "No Washington cases directly address whether a forum selection clause that applies to 'actions to enforce' an agreement encompasses claims other than contract claims, such as those that sound in tort." Appendix A at 8. By approving

dismissal of claims that arose outside the terms of the contract, the Court of Appeals created new law that greatly expands the scope of forum selection clauses and other contract provisions applicable to actions to "enforce" a contract.

1. The plain meaning of an action to "enforce" a contract is that the claims seek to compel a party to comply with obligations in the contract.

A forum selection clause is a contract term and is therefore subject to the "basic rule of contract construction" that an unambiguous contract term's "meaning is to be determined from the language alone." *Jacoby v. Grays Harbor Chair & Mfg. Co.*, 77 Wn.2d 911, 917, 468 P.2d 666 (1970) (citation omitted); *see also Hearst Commc'ns*, 154 Wn.2d at 503-04 ("[W]hen interpreting contracts, the subjective intent of the parties is generally irrelevant if the intent can be determined from the actual words used."). Courts must "impute an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used." *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503. And words in a contract are generally given their "ordinary, usual, and popular meaning

unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." *Id.* at 504.

The forum selection clause in the MOSA limits where "an action to enforce this agreement" may be filed. CP24 §7.h. Black's Law Dictionary defines "enforce" as "to give force or effect to or to compel obedience to." Enforce, Black's Law Dictionary (8th ed. 2004). As the Court of Appeals noted, "[t]he dictionary definition of 'enforce' includes 'to give force to: reinforce' and 'to put in force: cause to take effect: give effect to." Appendix A at 12 (citing Webster's Third New International Dictionary 751 (2002)). It follows from this ordinary and usual meaning that a forum selection clause applicable to actions to "enforce" an agreement pertains to actions seeking to force a party to comply with its obligations in the contract.

Courts interpret similar forum selection clauses to exclude claims that, like Bitemojo's claims, do not seek to enforce a term of the contract even if those claims relate to the

subject matter of the contract. See Vankineni v. Santa Rosa Beach Dev. Corp. II, 57 So. 3d 760, 762-63 (Ala. 2010) (clause applicable to an "action to enforce a provision" of the contract does not encompass rescission of the contract because rescission is the opposite of enforcement); Jacobson v. Mailboxes Etc. U.S.A., Inc., 646 N.E.2d 741, 745-46 (Mass. 1995) (clause that "by its terms relates only to actions to enforce the agreement" encompasses claims for specific performance and for damages for breach of contract but not claims for precontract misrepresentations and fraud in the inducement); see also Melnik v. AAS-DMP Mgmt. L/P, No. C97-1110C, 1998 WL 1748751, at *2 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 1998) (clause applicable to "[a]ny action to enforce the provisions of this crew contract" does not encompass tort claims arising out of the contractual relationship); *Muzek v*. Eagle Mfg. of N. Am., Inc., No. 6:18-CV-199-REW, 2018 WL 5499675, at *2 (E.D. Ky. Oct. 29, 2018) (plaintiffs' claims "to rescind or recover despite the contracts" are not encompassed

by a forum selection clause applicable to "[a]ny action to enforce the terms of this contract").

2. The Court of Appeals interpreted the clause more broadly than its ordinary and usual meaning.

The Court of Appeals recognized that Bitemojo's "noncontract" claims do not seek to enforce any provision of the MOSA. Appendix A at 11. But the Court of Appeals held the forum selection clause required dismissal of Bitemojo's claims anyway because they are "about data deletion, a subject matter" of the MOSA, "are not independent from the parties' preexisting relationship," and require interpretation of two provisions of the MOSA. Appendix A at 14-15. This expansive reading of the clause disregards its plain language and the ordinary and usual meaning of "enforce," instead treating the clause the same as broader forum selection clauses that apply to claims "relating to," "in connection with," or "arising out of" a contract. See, e.g., Sun v. Advanced China Healthcare, Inc., 901 F.3d 1081, 1086 (9th Cir. 2018) ("forum-selection clauses

covering disputes 'arising out of' a particular agreement apply only to disputes 'relating to the interpretation and performance of the contract itself," while "forum-selection clauses covering disputes 'relating to' a particular agreement apply to any disputes that reference the agreement or have some 'logical or causal connection' to the agreement").

The specific language a drafter uses in a contract provision matters, as Microsoft knows since it uses different forum selection clauses in different agreements. For example, Microsoft included a clause encompassing claims "arising under, out of or in relation to" the employment contract at issue in *Acharya v. Microsoft Corp.*, 189 Wn. App. 243, 247, 354 P.3d 908 (2105). Microsoft chose a forum selection clause applicable to actions "directly arising between the parties" in the license agreement at issue in *Video Streaming Solutions LLC v. Microsoft Corp.*, No. 13-C-7031, 2014 WL 2198480, at *2 (N.D. Ill. May 27, 2014). For the MOSA, Microsoft wrote a clause selecting a different forum for each of three types of

claims: claims brought by Microsoft to enforce the agreement, claims brought by the consumer to enforce the agreement, and claims relating to intellectual property rights. Bitemojo's claims do not fall into any of these three categories. And there is no reason to interpret the provision broadly in favor of Microsoft, as the drafter that selected this particular clause for this particular contract.

3. <u>Bitemojo's claims are independent of the MOSA and do not require interpretation of any of its provisions.</u>

In looking beyond the plain language of the forum selection clause, the Court of Appeals relied on a federal case addressing whether a differently-worded and ambiguous forum selection clause encompassed tort claims based on facts that "would also give rise to a breach of contract claim." *Terra Int'l, Inc. v. Mississippi Chem. Corp.*, 119 F.3d 688, 695 (8th Cir. 1997) (construing a clause applicable to "[a]ny dispute or disputes arising between the parties hereunder"). *Terra* could not be more distinguishable. The forum selection clause in the

MOSA is not ambiguous; neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals found that it was. Bitemojo's claims are not based on facts that would also give rise to a claim for breach of the MOSA; Bitemojo does not seek to enforce any obligations imposed on Microsoft by the MOSA and could assert its claims even if the MOSA was deemed unenforceable.

Perhaps most importantly, Washington law governs and requires that the words of a contract provision be given their ordinary and reasonable meaning unless a contrary intent is clear from the entirety of the agreement. *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 503-04. The Court of Appeals found three MOSA provisions relevant to interpreting the MOSA but none demonstrates an intent contrary to the plain language of the forum selection clause.

a. Sections 3.c and 1.d of the MOSA include no enforceable obligations and do not have to be interpreted to resolve Bitemojo's claims.

Bitemojo's breach of contract and promissory estoppel claims concern separate promises made after and apart from the

MOSA. They are based on Bitemojo's request that Microsoft preserve Bitemojo's data and defer payment during the pandemic because Bitemojo would not be using Azure's services and arise from the written communications between Bitemojo and Microsoft's customer service agents. CP8-9. The Court of Appeals found that Bitemojo's promissory estoppel and breach of contract claims "require interpreting and applying Section 3.c of the agreement" but did not explain why. Appendix A at 14. Section 3.c gives Microsoft the right to suspend an account as a penalty for conduct like failing to respond to a claim of infringement or not making payments that are due, and ultimately to terminate an account after providing notice. CP22. It does not address Microsoft's agreement to maintain data and forbear payment when a customer voluntarily and temporarily stops using the Azure platform. And Bitemojo does not seek to enforce Section 3.c against Microsoft.

Bitemojo's conversion and CPA claims are also independent of the MOSA. Bitemojo alleges that Microsoft

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