FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/9/2023 12:51 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101,977-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 834860-1

CULINARY VENTURES, LTD D/B/A BITEMOJO, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

MICROSOFT CORPORATION

Defendant/Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Perez, WSBA No. 43959 DPerez@perkinscoie.com Paige L. Whidbee, WSBA No. 55072 PWhidbee@perkinscoie.com

PERKINS COIE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4900 Seattle, WA 98101-3099 Telephone: 206.359.8000 Facsimile: 206.359.9000

Attorneys for Microsoft Corporation

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard

As relevant here, a petition for review will be accepted only if the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with either a Supreme Court or another published Court of Appeals' decision, or involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b).

Bitemojo contends that the Supreme Court should accept review because this case involves an issue of substantial public interest, and because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Supreme Court's holding in *Dix*. Bitemojo is incorrect on both counts, and the Court should deny the petition.

B. The Petition Does Not Identify Any Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Warrants Review

1. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation Narrowly Focused on the Parties' Intent in This Case

The Court of Appeals' holding that Bitemojo's claims are subject to the Forum Selection Clause—a narrow, "case-specific" determination based on the Agreement's specific text and surrounding facts—does not raise an issue of "substantial public interest" warranting Supreme Court review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Contrary to Bitemojo's assertion, the court's ruling does not alter the scope of "forum selection provisions governing actions to 'enforce' contracts." Petition at 14. Instead, the court expressly "declined" to issue a broad or bright-line rule, reasoning instead that:

[T]he analysis of whether noncontract claims, including tort claims, are covered by forum selection clauses is a "case-specific exercise" and "depends upon the intention of the parties reflected in the wording of particular clauses and the facts of each case."

Order at 11 (emphasis added) (quoting *Terra Int'l, Inc. v. Miss. Chem. Corp.*, 119 F.3d 688, 693 (8th Cir. 1997)).

Using "standard tools of contract interpretation," Order at 11, the court issued a narrow and fact-specific holding that does not raise any issue of "substantial public interest that should be

determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b). Bitemojo's petition should, therefore, be denied.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Washington Contract Law

The Court of Appeals' interpretation was correct under Washington law. Bitemojo does not dispute the court's holding that, when interpreting a contract, Washington courts' primary objective is to discern the parties' intent, based on reading the contract as a whole. Petition at 15; Order at 11-12 (citing Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Com. Union Ins. Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 669-70, 15 P.3d 115 (2000) & Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)).

In fact, Bitemojo expressly concedes that the Court of Appeals was correct when it determined that the plain meaning of the forum selection clause applied to claims that seek "'to give force to,' 'cause to take effect,' or 'give effect to' the [A]greement." Petition at 16 (citing Order at 12-13).

And Bitemojo cannot reasonably question the Court of Appeals' "case-specific" analysis of the Agreement. The court first noted that the Agreement contains both an integration clause and a "reciprocal" forum selection clause with "only one exception" that does not apply here: for "violation of intellectual property rights." Order at 12. It then concluded that "[r]eading the contract as a whole, because the agreement

constitutes 'the entire agreement concerning its subject matter,' we determine that the parties intended that the forum selection clause apply to all claims concerning the subject matter of the agreement, with the sole exception of claims relating to intellectual property rights." *Id.* at 13.

Then, turning to "the facts in this case," the court correctly found that the forum selection clause applies to Bitemojo's claims. Order at 13. That is because the core allegation underlying each of Bitemojo's four claims is that Microsoft failed to honor an alleged promise to suspend Bitemojo's contractual payment obligation and "keep its data safe." CP8-11 (Compl. ¶ 37 (estoppel), 49 (breach of contract), 56 (conversion), 66-67 (CPA)); see also Order at 13-15. Bitemojo cannot dispute that the Agreement governed these payments and the storage of the data in question. To the contrary, as the Court of Appeals noted, the Agreement makes clear that Microsoft Ireland "does not and will not assume any obligations with respect to the Customer Data . . . other than as expressly set forth in this agreement or as required by applicable law." Order at 15 (citing CP19 (Agreement § 1(d))).

The Court of Appeals also correctly found that each of Bitemojo's claims requires the interpretation and application of the Agreement's terms. To borrow Bitemojo's own characterization, every one of its claims is based on the same

allegation that Microsoft Ireland's technical support engineers "promised forbearance of payments for *Plaintiff's existing subscription* [under the Agreement], deferring payments that would *otherwise be owed immediately* [pursuant to Section 2(c)], and assured [Bitemojo] that this would result in Microsoft keeping *the data Plaintiff was storing on Microsoft's servers* secure [suspending the deletion right under Section 3(c)]." CP71 (Opp'n at 14) (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals noted, these interactions "did not occur in a vacuum" but "all related to services that Microsoft Azure agreed to provide to Bitemojo pursuant to the online services agreement." Order at 13. And Bitemojo cannot reasonably dispute the court's conclusion that its claims are governed by the Agreement because "they are claims about data deletion," and "[w]ithout the . . . [A]greement, Microsoft Azure would not have any of Bitemojo's data in the first place." Order at 14-15.

This fact-specific analysis—of a *foreign* contract executed exclusively between *Irish* and *Israeli* companies—can involve no "substantial public interest" for the state of Washington that could justify Supreme Court review. And, in any event, the court's analysis is also plainly correct under Washington law.

3. The Court of Appeals' Interpretation Does Not Conflict with Washington Case Law and Is Consistent with the Weight of Authority in Other Jurisdictions

Bitemojo broadly insists that the Court of Appeals' ruling represents a shift in how "action to enforce" clauses are interpreted. And yet, Bitemojo *cannot cite a single case* supporting its contention that the clause should not apply here.

While no Washington cases directly address whether a forum selection clause that applies to "actions to enforce" an agreement can encompass non-contract claims, Order at 8, the weight of authority in other jurisdictions confirms the Court of Appeals' interpretation in this case was correct, consistently holding that this type of "action to enforce" clause encompasses all claims based on conduct governed by the contract in question. See, e.g., Lambert v. Kysar, 983 F.2d 1110, 1121-22 (1st Cir. 1993) (clause covering "action[s] brought to enforce" a contract encompassed "contract-related tort claims involving the same operative facts as a parallel claim for breach of contract"); All. Commc'ns Co-op., Inc. v. Glob. Crossing Telecomms., Inc., Nos. Civ. 06-4221-KES, 06-3023-KES, 2007 WL 1964271, at *8-9 (D.S.D. July 2, 2007) ("any action to enforce or interpret" clause encompassed tort claims that required interpretation of contract); LTVN Holdings LLC v. Odeh, Civ. No. CCB-09-0789, 2009 WL 3736526, at *5 (D. Md. Nov. 5, 2009) ("[a]ny action to enforce this agreement"

included claims "that are not purely contractual" including conversion, unjust enrichment, copyright infringement, and invasion of privacy); Auld v. Daugherty Sys., Inc., Civ. No. 15-3336 (DSD/SER), 2015 WL 5970731, at *2 (D. Minn. Oct. 13, 2015) (where alleged promises "directly modified the Agreement's terms" an "attempt to enforce the promises is an attempt to enforce the Agreement"); Thorrez Indus., Inc. v. LuK Transmissions Sys., LLC, No. 5:09-cv-01986, 2010 WL 1434326, at *5 (N.D. Ohio Apr. 8, 2010) (forum selection clause covering "any actions or proceedings to enforce this contract" encompassed account stated and unjust enrichment claims because both claims were "inseparable" from plaintiff's contract claim); Third Ave. Tr. v. Suntrust Bank, 163 F. Supp. 2d 215, 217-22 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (conversion and unjust enrichment claims were governed by a forum selection clause that applied to "any action to enforce, interpret or construe any provision of this agreement").

And the four cases Bitemojo cites do nothing to support its argument. Three stand only for the unremarkable proposition that claims for *rescission* of a contract are not "actions to enforce" the contract (because their core assertion is that the contract is unenforceable). *See Muzek v. Eagle Mfg. of N. Am., Inc.*, No. 6:18-CV-199-REW, 2018 WL 5499675, at *2 (E.D. Ky. Oct. 29, 2018) (rescission); *Vankineni v. Santa Rosa*

Beach Dev. Corp. II, 57 So. 3d 760, 762-63 (Ala. 2010) (rescission); Jacobson v. Mailboxes Etc. U.S.A., Inc., 646 N.E.2d 741, 745-46 (Mass. 1995) (fraud in the inducement). And the lone on-point case that Bitemojo cites—*Melnik v.* AAS-DMP Mgmt. L/P—is a more than twenty-year-old unpublished decision whose analysis relied exclusively on a New York decision that was vacated several months after Melnik was decided. No. C97-1110C, 1998 WL 1748751, *2 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 1998) (citing *Cuizon v. Kedma, Ltd.*, 1997) WL 37938, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 30, 1997), vacated (Dec. 17, 1998)); see also Webster v. Royal Caribbean Cruises, Ltd., 124 F. Supp. 2d 1317, 1324 (S.D. Fla. 2000) ("Cuizon is an unpublished opinion from the Southern District of New York that was vacated on December 17, 1998. Accordingly, the Cuizon opinion carries no precedential or persuasive weight in this court.").

The Court of Appeals' holding was undoubtedly correct, and consistent not only with Washington law but also with other jurisdictions. Bitemojo's failure to cite a single case to support its position confirms the Petition should be denied.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with Supreme Court Authority

Bitemojo next contends that Supreme Court review is appropriate based on a manufactured conflict with this Court's

opinion in *Dix v. ICT Group, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 834, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). Petition at 27-31. But no such conflict exists.

In *Dix*, the Court declined to enforce a forum selection clause because the chosen forum, Virginia, did not allow class action lawsuits. 160 Wn.2d at 837. The Court's animating concern was that a plaintiff's "[i]ndividual claims may be so small that it otherwise would be impracticable to bring them," such that a preclusion of class suits could allow an "unscrupulous seller' . . . [to] retain [the] benefits of its wrongful conduct." *Id.* at 839 (quoting *Am. Online, Inc. v. Super. Ct.*, 90 Cal. App. 4th 1, 17, 108 Cal. Rptr. 2d 699, *as modified* (July 10, 2001)).

Accordingly, the Court held that "a forum selection clause that seriously impairs the plaintiff's ability to go forward on a claim of small value by eliminating class suits in circumstances where there is *no feasible alternative for seeking relief* violates public policy and is unenforceable." *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 837 (emphasis added). As the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned, "[w]here the factual basis for the CPA claim is the same as that in other claims, the plaintiff may still have a feasible alternative avenue to seek relief for the conduct."

Bitemojo concedes that it has a "feasible alternative for seeking relief" for the conduct at issue in Ireland and offers no explanation of exactly *how* the Court of Appeals' holding conflicts with *Dix*—having notably abandoned the two incorrect arguments it raised below. *See* Appendix at APP36–40 (Brief of Appellant).

Bitemojo's only assertion is that if it brings suit in Ireland, it may be unable to bring a CPA claim that is purely derivative of the claims it concedes it *can* bring. But *Dix* did not hold that courts should invalidate a contractual choice of forum so that a nonresident plaintiff with "feasible alternative[s] for seeking relief" can pursue duplicative and derivative claims under the CPA—a statute intended to benefit Washington consumers.¹

Instead, the Court in *Dix* adopted its "public policy" exception after considering federal law. *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 834-35 (citing *Bremen v. Zapata Off–Shore Co.*, 407 U.S. 1, 10 (1972) & *Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc. v. Shute*, 499 U.S. 585, 589-95 (1991)); *see also Acharya v. Microsoft Corp.*, 189 Wn. App. 243, 253, 354 P.3d 908 (2015) ("[I]n *Dix*, the Washington Supreme Court agreed with the federal test for

¹ A good sign that Bitemojo's argument is hopelessly flawed is that it has no limiting principle: under Bitemojo's understanding, no forum selection clause would ever be enforceable because a plaintiff could always fall back on a duplicative CPA claim.

whether a forum selection clause was enforceable and recognized that the test was generally in agreement with other Washington appellate decisions."). And the federal courts have expressly and repeatedly rejected Bitemojo's position, enforcing forum selection clauses unless "the law of the transferee court is so deficient that the plaintiffs would be deprived of *any* reasonable recourse." *Simula, Inc. v. Autoliv, Inc.*, 175 F.3d 716, 723 (9th Cir. 1999) (emphasis added) (enforcing forum selection clause "despite the fact that the plaintiffs' federal statutory claims would not be available under [foreign] law"); *see also, e.g., Richards v. Lloyds of London*, 135 F.3d 1289, 1296 (9th Cir. 1998) (enforcing forum selection clause that deprived plaintiffs of claims under U.S. securities law because they "have recourse . . . for fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, or negligent misrepresentation").

The Court of Appeals' holding is consistent with this Court's opinion in *Dix* and with the federal case law that informed that decision. Because Bitemojo has not identified any conflict between the Court of Appeals' holding and a decision of this Court, the Petition should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

D. **Bitemojo Does Not Assert Any Other Grounds for Supreme Court Review**

Bitemojo does not contend that the holding below either "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals" or raises "a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States." RAP 13.4(b)(2)–(3). Because Bitemojo cannot establish any basis to permit Supreme Court review, the Petition should be denied.

VI. **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should DENY Bitemojo's Petition for Review.

I certify that this response contains 3,587 words, in compliance with RAP 18.17.